RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Sep 02, 2015, 10:17 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER

Supreme Court No. 93187-3 BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 72051-1-I

E CRF

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### ALEX C. BARKLEY,

Appellant/Plaintiff, v.

### I. Identity of Petitioner.

The Petitioner is ALEX BARKLEY (hereinafter "Mr. Barkley"), who was the Plaintiff in the original action under King County Superior Court Case No. 13-2-20722-2 SEA and the Appellant in Court of Appeals, Division I, Case No. 72051-1-I.

### II. Court of Appeals Decision.

Mr. Barkley seeks review by the Supreme Court of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals filed August 10, 2015 (hereinafter "subject decision"), a copy of which is attached hereto at *Appendix "A"*.

#### III. Issues Presented for Review.

A. Whether the subject decision to disregard the proof of ownership requirement in *RCW* 61.24.030(7)(a) conflicts with the Supreme Court's decision in *Trujillo v. NWTS*, \_\_ Wn.2d \_\_, \_\_ P.3d \_\_ (August 20, 2015) (hereinafter "*Trujillo*")<sup>1</sup>, the Supreme Court's anticipated decision in the direct review of *Brown v Department of Commerce*, No. 90652-1, as well as *Bain v. Metropolitan Mortgage Group*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 111, 285 P.3d 34 (2012) (hereinafter "*Bain*"), and *Lyons v. U.S. Bank*, 181 Wn. 2d 775, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014) (hereinafter "*Lyons*"), and conflicts with this Court's precedents requiring that statutes be interpreted to avoid rendering statutory language superfluous and to harmonize their provisions, and that the Deed of Trust Act

In *Trujillo*, the Supreme Court reversed in part and remanded for further proceedings Appellant's CPA claims the decision of the Court of Appeals reported at 181 Wn.App. 484, 326, P.3d 768 (2014). A copy of the Supreme Court decision in *Trujillo* of August 20, 2015 is attached hereto in the Appendix at *Appendix "B"*. Citation to *Trujillo* is to this version.

(RCW 61.24, et seq.) (hereinafter "DTA") be strictly construed in favor of the borrower, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. Whether the subject decision determining the Declarations of John Simionidis and Jeff Stenman: (1) are admissible for the purposes of CR 56(e) and RCW 5.45, et seq., and/or (2) if so, are sufficient to establish Respondent, U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS TRUSTEE, SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE IN INTEREST TO STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST AS TRUSTEE FOR WASHINGTON MUTUAL MSC MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES SERIES 2003-AR1 (hereinafter "U.S. Bank") and/or Respondent, **JPMORGAN CHASE BANK NATIONAL** ASSOCIATIONS (hereinafter "Chase") are the owners and actual holders of the subject obligation entitling them to appoint Respondent, NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC. (hereinafter "NWTS") as successor trustee when the hearsay Declarations characterize the nature of documents not attached contrary to the Supreme Court's decision in State v. Fricks, 91 Wn.2d 391, 397, 588 P.2d 1328 (1979) (hereinafter "Fricks"), thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

C. Whether the subject decision's reliance on averments in the Declarations of John Simionidis and Jeff Stenman purporting to attest to the "holder" or "loan servicer" of the note are incompetent to establish any agency relationship with the "undisclosed investor" to whom the Note and Deed of Trust were sold by U.S. Bank, because agency may only be proved upon

declarations or acts of the principal rather than the purported agent, contrary to Supreme Court precedent, meriting review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).

- D. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court's denial of Mr. Barkley's request for additional discovery to challenge Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment was contrary to existing precedent, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- E. Whether NWTS violated its duty of good faith to Mr. Barkley by relying on a Beneficiary Declaration (CP 255) that was not executed by either the owner or actual holder of the debt, was executed by an unverified attorney-in-fact and otherwise failed to verify the ownership of the subject obligation and Respondents' right to foreclose is contrary to *Lyons, Trujillo* and other precedent of this Court, thus meriting review of this Court under *RAP* 13.4(b)(1).
- F. Whether the subject decision holding that substantial evidence of a violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act (*RCW 19.86*, et seq.) (hereinafter "CPA") did not existed, in view of the fact that: (1) the Beneficiary Declaration relied upon by the foreclosing trustee, NWTS, was not executed by either the owner or actual holder of the subject obligation and could not be reasonably relied upon to comply with the provisions of *RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)*; (2) NWTS unreasonably relied on an Assignment of Deed of Trust of an ineligible beneficiary (MERS); (3) NWTS unreasonably relied upon an Appointment of Successor Trustee, executed by an attorney-in-fact without verifying the validity of the document; (4) NWTS ignored the competing claims by various entities as "beneficiary" and failed to verify the ownership of the

obligation; (5) relied on improperly dated and notarized documents and issued documents that improperly identified the owner and holder of the subject obligation and materially failed to comply with various provisions of the DTA; and (6) Respondents failed to obtain authority from the true and lawful owner and actual holder of the obligation (purportedly an "undisclosed investor" – CP 915), before initiating foreclosure and the Supreme Court precedent in *Bain, Trujillo, Klem v. Washington Mutual Bank,* 176 Wn.2d 771, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013) (hereinafter "*Klem*"), and *Lyons*, thus meriting review of this Court under *RAP* 13.4(b)(1).<sup>2</sup>

G. Whether any or all of the issues set forth above are of substantial public interest, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

### IV. Statement of the Case.

On November 19, 2002, Mr. Barkley executed a Promissory Note in favor of Respondent, GREENPOINT MORTGAGE FUNDING, INC. (hereinafter "GreenPoint"), as lender. CP 755-760. Contractually defining the term "note holder", the Note specifically provides that "Lender or anyone who takes this Note by transfer and who is entitled to receive payments under this Note is called the 'Note Holder'". This transaction was purportedly registered with Respondent, MERS. CP 915. To secure repayment of the Promissory Note, Mr. Barkley executed a Deed of Trust naming Transnational Title Insurance Company as the trustee and naming MERS as the beneficiary, solely as a nominee for Lender and Lender's successors and assigns. CP 762-781. It

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See footnote 4, below.

is undisputed that at no time relevant to this cause of action did MERS ever own or hold the subject Note. CP 746-747; CP 836-862.

At some point in 2007, GreenPoint went out of business. CP 749-750.

On January 19, 2011, NWTS issued a Notice of Default. CP 783-787. This Notice of Default contained numerous false and misleading statements. CP 747-748. First, *inter alia*, there has been no evidence that the true and lawful owner and holder of the subject Note and Deed of Trust ever declared Mr. Barkley in default, in violation of *RCW 61.24.030(8)(c)*. Second, the subject Notice of Default misleadingly and falsely claims that "U.S. Bank" is the "Beneficiary (Note Owner)" and identifies Chase as the "loan servicer", but there was no evidence that NWTS made any attempt to verify or to adequately inform itself of the truth of the facts contained in the Notice of Default. Indeed, at this time, NWTS had no procedures to verify the information. *In re Meyer*, 506 B.R. 533 (2014) (hereinafter "*In re Meyer*").

On February 12, 2012, U.S. Bank relinquished all interest in the subject transaction, allegedly transferring the Note and Deed of Trust to an "undisclosed investor". CP 915.

On September 18, 2012, an Assignment of the Deed of Trust was purportedly executed by MERS, an ineligible beneficiary, as nominee for GreenPoint, in favor of U.S. Bank for "good and valuable consideration." CP 824. See *Bain*. There was no evidence that MERS ever obtained the consent or authority from GreenPoint, the true and lawful owner and holder of the obligation or the "unknown investor" to execute the Assignment of Deed of

Trust. CP 749-750, 915. Certainly no investigation was ever conducted by NWTS to verify the information contained in the Assignment of Deed of Trust. *In re Meyer*.

On October 18, 2012, Chase, as alleged attorney-in-fact for U.S. Bank, executed a Beneficiary Declaration that asserts that U.S. Bank "is the holder of the promissory note" to fulfill NWTS' obligations under *RCW* 61.24.030(7).<sup>3</sup> CP 255. However, U.S. Bank transferred whatever interest it may have had in the subject transaction eight (8) months prior. CP 915. Finally, there was no evidence offered to the trial court to establish that NWTS ever conducted any investigation to verify the statements contained in the Beneficiary Declaration. See *In re Meyer, Lyons* and *Trujillo*.

On November 7, 2012, an Appointment of Successor Trustee was executed and recorded by Chase, as alleged attorney-in-fact for U.S. Bank, appointing NWTS the successor trustee. CP 258. This document was executed and recorded over nine (9) months after U.S. Bank assigned its interest in this obligation to an "undisclosed investor", raising issues of fact as to the propriety of the Appointment under *RCW* 61.24.010. CP 915.

On November 28, 2012, NWTS executed, posted and served a Notice of Trustee's Sale, setting a Trustee's Sale date of March 15, 2013. 830-833.

All relevant documents identify the entity conducting the foreclosure as: U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, <u>successor in interest to State Street Bank and Trust as Trustee</u> for Washington Mutual MSC Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2003-AR1". CP 783-787, 255, 826-828, 830-833, 353. However, no power of attorney from this entity empowering any Respondent to act on its behalf has ever been produced. If Chase did not have authority under a duly executed power of attorney to execute the Beneficiary Declaration or the Appointment of Successor Trustee, the documents upon which NWTS purportedly relied to initiate foreclosure proceedings against Mr. Barkley, Respondents foreclosure efforts were wrongful and lawful.

The subject Notice of Trustee's Sale was signed on <u>November 28, 2012</u> but was not notarized until <u>December 12, 2012</u>. CP 833. See *Klem*. No evidence was offered to the trial court on summary judgment to establish that NWTS conducted any investigation to verify the information contained in its Notice of Trustee's Sale. *In re Meyer, Lyons, Trujillo*.

In conjunction with the subject Notice of Trustee's Sale, NWTS prepared, posted and served a Notice of Foreclosure that failed to strictly comply with language proscribed by *RCW 61.24.040(2)*, requiring identity of the "owner of the obligation secured thereby." CP 834-835. The Notice of Foreclosure merely notes "an obligation to U.S. Bank" and misleadingly identified U.S. Bank as the party to whom Mr. Barkley was obligated. However, as noted above, the evidence offered to the trial court suggests U.S. Bank assigned its interest in this obligation to an "undisclosed investor" nine (9) months prior to execution of the Notice of Foreclosure. CP 915.

On or about May 22, 2013, Mr. Barkley initiated the above-captioned matter. CP 1-130.

In April of 2014, Respondents moved the trial court for summary judgment in two separate motions, pursuant to *CR 56*.

On May 23, 2014, the trial court granted Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment and Mr. Barkley timely appealed. CP 1105-1113.

### V. Argument and Authority.

A. Review should be granted to determine the validity of the Court of Appeals' holding that the foreclosing trustee need not have proof ownership of the note before recording a notice of trustee's sale as required under RCW 61.24.030(7)(a).

The issue of the trustee's possession of proof of ownership of the Note herein is the same as the issue that was the subject of review in *Trujillo*. The subject decision relies on the Court of Appeals' decision in *Trujillo* (181 Wn.App. 484), recently reversed by the Supreme Court, in two respects: (1) it claims that Mr. Barkley's evidentiary challenges to the Declarations of John Simionidis and Jeff Stenman are immaterial insofar as they create material issues of fact as to the ownership of Mr. Barkley's Note; and (2) discounts the duty of the NWTS to act in good faith to determine whether the claimed beneficiary is the owner of the Note as well as the actual holder, with authority to foreclose. See *Lyons* and *Trujillo*.

The subject decision raises an issue of public importance as to whether all provisions of the DTA, specifically RCW 61.24.030(7)(a),<sup>5</sup> should be so construed and interpreted so as to avoid rendering the language of the statutes superfluous and to harmonize their provisions for the benefit of all borrowers in

It has been Mr. Barkley's contention throughout these proceedings that only the true and lawful owner and actual holder of a note and deed of trust has the right to foreclose under the DTA. CP 542-550. This issue was addressed in *Bain* and *Lyons* and is currently before this Court in *Brown v. Department of Commerce*, Case No. 90652-1 (hereinafter "*Brown*"). The arguments in support of this contention are outlined in the Brief of Appellant in *Brown*, attached hereto at *Appendix "C"*, and the Revised *Amicus* Brief filed by Coalition for Civil Justice in the *Trujillo* matter, attached hereto at *Appendix "D"*.

 $<sup>^{5}</sup>$  RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) and (b) provides as follows:

<sup>(</sup>a) That, for residential real property, before the notice of trustee's sale is recorded, transmitted, or served, the trustee shall have proof that the beneficiary is the **owner** of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust. A declaration by the beneficiary made under penalties of perjury stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust shall be sufficient proof as required under this subsection.

<sup>(</sup>b) Unless the trustee has violated his or her duty [of good faith] under RCW 61.24.010(4), the trustee is entitled to rely on the beneficiary's declaration as evidence of proof required under the subsection. (Emphasis added)

the State of Washington. Gilbert H. Moen Co. v. Island Steel Erectors, Inc., 128 Wn.2d 745, 762, 912 P.2d 472 (1996); In re Detention of C.W., 147 Wn.2d 259, 272, 53 P.3d 979 (2002); State v. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d 534, 546-547, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014).

RCW 61.24.005(2) defines the term "beneficiary" as the "holder of the instrument," but does not define the term "holder". RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) does not reference the "holder", but the "actual holder", without defining that term either. The statutory command of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) that as a prerequisite to sale the trustee have proof that the beneficiary is the owner, can only be read to mean that the actual holder must be the owner to render a consistent interpretation of the statute as a whole. Harmonizing the language of RCW 61.24.005(2) and RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) merits Supreme Court review and resolution.

The subject Beneficiary Declaration of October 18, 2012 at issue herein merely states that U.S. Bank is merely the "holder", which could include a thief under *RCW 62A.3-301*, rather than "actual holder" as statutorily mandated and is contradicted by the evidence of U.S. Bank's assignment of the obligation to an "undisclosed investor" on February 12, 2012. CP 255, 915. Given the Supreme Court's decision in *Trujillo* and in anticipation of its decision in *Brown*, the remedy here may be to remand this matter to the Court of Appeals for reconsideration, or may simply be to grant review on all issues, insofar as the subject decision conflicts with *Trujillo*, *Bain*, and *Lyons*, pursuant to *RAP 13.4(b)(1)*. This issue is of substantial public importance under *RAP 13.4(b)(4)*, which is acknowledged in Respondents' motion to publish the subject decision.

There Respondents assert that the subject decision "clarifies" that the "beneficiary' does not have to be both the owner and holder of the note." This is a much litigated issue and is currently before the 9<sup>th</sup> Circuit Court of Appeals in the matter of *Meyers v. NWTS*, 9<sup>th</sup> Circuit Case No. 15-35560.

# B. Review should be granted to determine whether hearsay narrative statements may be admitted under the Business Records Act (RCW 5.45.020) and contrary to CR 56(e).

The facts upon which the trial court relied on summary judgment were set out in the Declarations of John Simionidis of April 15, 2014 (CP 495-525) and Jeff Stenman of April 18, 2014 (CP 352-354), to which Mr. Barkley made timely objection. CP 536-542, 567-568. The issue presented for review is whether CR 56(e) 's requirement that summary judgment declarations be based on personal knowledge and set forth matters admissible into evidence may be circumvented by a hearsay narrative declaration characterizing "business records", rather than laying a proper foundation for the receipt of the records relied upon into evidence.

All Mr. Simionidis about the basis of his/her knowledge is that he is "familiar with Chase's record-keeping practices" and that based on this familiarity, he "believes", but does not know, that the information and "business records submitted with his declaration are all records made at or near the time of the events and acts recorded by the individuals with personal knowledge." CP 495-497. Like Mr. Simionidis, all Mr. Stenman says about the basis of his knowledge is that he has "reviewed the records that pertain to the Barkley Nonjudicial Foreclosure," without identifying the specific documents he is referring to. CP 353. But neither provided the trial court

either the documents reviewed or facts that would establish the reliability of the information provided. See *RCW 5.45.020*; *State v. Smith*, 16 Wn.App. 425, 558 P.2d 265 (1976) and *State v. Kane*, 23 Wn.App. 107, 594 P.2d 1357 (1979). Under *CR 56(e)*, conclusory statements or "mere averment" that the affiant has personal knowledge are insufficient to support a motion for summary judgment. *Blomster v. Nordstrom, Inc.*, *supra*; Editorial Commentary to *CR 56* (citing *Antonio v. Barnes*, 464 F2d 584, 585 4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1972).

Many of the records reviewed and relied upon by Mr. Simionidis and Mr. Stenman were necessarily prepared, compiled and maintained by third parties, such as GreenPoint, MERS, the FDIC or U.S. Bank. Such third-party records must be separately authenticated by the third party who compiled the records to meet the business records exception to the hearsay rule and meet the requirement that such testimony be based on personal knowledge from the third party's records custodian to satisfy each of the elements of *RCW 5.45.020*. *State v. Weeks*, 70 Wn.2d 951, 953, 425 P.2d 885 (1967); *MRC Receivables Corp. v. Zion*, 152 Wn. App. 625, 631 & n. 9, 218 P.3d 621 (2009). For example, Mr. Simionidis states:

.... I believe the business records submitted with this declaration are all records made at or near the time of the events and acts recorded by individuals with personal knowledge of the events and acts, were created or collected as part of Chase's regular practices.... CP 495.

Collected from whom? Mr. Simionidis goes on to assert that Chase is the attorney-in-fact for U.S. Bank, without providing the document related to this specific securitized trust (see footnote 3, above); claims that Chase took possession of the Note in July of 2009, without providing the transfer

documents; and discusses MERS assignment of the Note to U.S. Bank without acknowledging U.S. Bank's assignment of the same to an "undisclosed investor" in February of 2012. CP 914. This hearsay narrative statement and many others in the two declarations relied upon by the trial court was not offered to authenticate business record or offer them into evidence, but was offered to set forth Mr. Simionidis hearsay version of events acquired from third party sources and not based on his personal knowledge. If some business record indicates what Mr. Simionidis says it does, then the proper procedure would be to offer the document into evidence after laying a proper foundation—not to testify about what the document says or, much less, what it means. This is a serious but not uncommon departure in these kinds of cases<sup>6</sup> and from Supreme Court precedent, justifying review under *RAP 13.4(b)(1)*. *Fricks*, at page 391, is on point.

Mr. Stenman testifies that "on January 12, 2011, NWTS received a referral to commence a non-judicial foreclosure" without identifying the source of the referral. While Mr. Stenman testifies that he has "reviewed the records that pertain to the Barkley Nonjudicial Foreclosure," he fails to identify the specific documents he is referring to: is he referring to the "records" submitted in the referral from the unnamed source or records generated by NWTS? Mr. Stenman does not say.

The rolling narrative hearsay from Mr. Simionidis and Mr. Stenman were the sole basis upon which the trial court concluded that Mr. Barkley was in default, that U.S. Bank and/or Chase were the holders of the obligation and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See McDonald v. OneWest, 929 F. Supp. 2d 1079, 1090-1091 (2013).

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