RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Oct 01, 2015, 9:52 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 92187-3

RECEIVED BY E-MAD

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALEX C. BARKLEY,

Appellant,

v.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER OF JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC.,
AND U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
TO ALEX C. BARKLEY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Fred Burnside, WSBA No. 32491 Hugh McCullough, WSBA No. 41453 Davis Wright Tremaine LLP Attorneys for JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., and U.S. Bank National Association

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

ARGUMENT

- A. The court of appeals' decision does not merit review because U.S. Bank is both the holder and the owner of Barkley's promissory note.
 - 1. The court of appeals' decision does not conflict with this Court's decisions in *Bain*, *Lyons*, or *Trujillo*, and would not conflict with *Brown*, however it is decided.

This Court should not grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the decision of the court of appeals does not conflict with this Court's decision in *Bain*, or *Lyons v. U.S. Bank*, 181 Wn.2d 775 (2014), or *Trujillo v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*, 2015 WL 4943982 (Wash. 2015), and would not conflict with this Court's decision in *Brown v. Washington State*

Department of Commerce, now pending in this Court under case number 90652-1, however the Court may choose to rule. The undisputed evidence presented to the superior court demonstrated that U.S. Bank was both the holder and the owner of Barkley's note.

Several of this Court's recent decisions interpret RCW 61.24.005(2), which, for purposes of Washington's Deed of Trust Act, defines the "beneficiary" of a deed of trust as the "holder of the instrument." Those decisions also deal with RCW 61.24.030(7)(A), which identifies certain prerequisites to a nonjudicial foreclosure sale. The court of appeals properly applied those precedents, and no matter what the Court decides in *Brown*, it will not change the results of this appeal.

In *Bain*, this Court explained that to foreclose under the Deed of Trust Act, "a beneficiary must either actually possess the promissory note or be the payee" because that comports with Washington's Uniform Commercial Code. 175 Wn.2d at 104. This Court concluded that "the legislature meant to define 'beneficiary' to mean the actual holder of the promissory note or other debt instrument." *Id.* at 101. And this Court quoted RCW 62A.3-301, which says, in pertinent part, that "[a] person may be a person entitled to enforce the instrument even though the person is not the owner of the instrument or is in wrongful possession of the instrument."

In *Lyons*, this Court observed that RCW 61.24.030(7)(A) seemed to require the beneficiary of a deed of trust to prove it was an "owner" of

the secured obligation. This Court went on to explain that a person could prove it owned a note by providing a declaration "stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note" under RCW 61.24.030(7)(A). That would be sufficient evidence to allow a trustee under a deed of trust to conclude that RCW 61.24.030(7)(A) had been satisfied. The trustee would only be required to investigate further if "there [was] an indication that the beneficiary declaration might be ineffective." 181 Wn.2d at 790.

In *Trujillo*, this Court continued its analysis of beneficiary declarations by noting that a declaration was insufficient if it said a person "could be the 'actual holder' 'or' it could be something else." 2015 WL 4943982, at *4. The Court expressly did not "address whether RCW 61.24.030(7)(A) allows a trustee to rely on an unambiguous declaration stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the note, even though the owner is a different party." *Id.*, at *4. The Court said it would address that question in another case, presumably referring to *Brown*.

The decision of the court of appeals is consistent with *Bain* because U.S. Bank is the actual holder of Barkley's note. Barkley identified the original note during his deposition. U.S. Bank even had a copy of the original note available for inspection during argument in the court of appeals. The foreclosure notices that Barkley received, and the other documents prepared in connection with the foreclosure, never identified anyone other than U.S. Bank as the holder of the original note.

The decision of the court of appeals is also consistent with *Lyons* and *Trujillo*. Unlike the beneficiary declarations in *Lyons* and *Trujillo*, the declaration here is not ambiguous. It accurately identifies U.S. Bank as the holder of the note, without any qualification of the kind that this Court found objectionable in *Lyons* and *Trujillo*. Nor was there any evidence to suggest the beneficiary declaration was inaccurate. Barkley introduced no evidence to suggest there is any difference between a "holder" and an "actual holder" in this case. And Barkley introduced no evidence that anyone other than U.S. Bank and its agents has ever claimed to hold his note or sought to enforce his lawful obligations.

The decision of the court of appeals would also be consistent with this Court's impending decision in *Brown*, even if this Court determines that a person must be both the holder and owner of a note to foreclose.

None of the foreclosure documents identified anyone other than U.S. Bank as the owner or holder of Barkley's note. U.S. Bank is, in fact, *both* the holder and the owner of Barkley's note.

2. There is no dispute that U.S. Bank is the actual holder and owner of Barkley's note.

The court of appeals properly agreed with the superior court that U.S. Bank is the actual holder and owner of Barkley's note, even though U.S. Bank deposited the note with its servicer (and then with its attorneys) for safekeeping, and even though U.S. Bank is the owner of the note in its capacity as trustee for various certificate-holders. Aside from being a

correct decision on the merits, the court of appeals' ruling does not create any conflict with any decisions of this Court or the court of appeals.

Just because Chase kept the Note safe for U.S. Bank does not mean U.S. Bank stopped being the holder and owner. Barkley's argument about the distinction between "possession" and "custody" defies Washington law. A federal bankruptcy court recently rejected the same argument because there is no reason why a noteholder cannot instruct its agents to act on its behalf. See In re Butler, 512 B.R. 643, 652-54 (Bankr. W.D. Wash. 2014). U.S. Bank *must* act through agents because U.S. Bank is not a physical person.

There is no genuine dispute that Chase is U.S. Bank's servicer and attorney-in-fact. Mr. Simionidis testified that Chase is U.S. Bank's attorney-in-fact. CP 496 ¶ 4. Chase and U.S. Bank submitted a power of attorney, which is self-authenticating. CP 435-51. And they submitted a copy of the pooling and servicing agreement by which U.S. Bank acquired Barkley's loan. Barkley came forward with no evidence to contest Chase's power to act for U.S. Bank. Lacking any evidence of his own, Barkley attacks the declarations submitted by Chase and U.S. Bank. But, as discussed below, those attacks are unavailing.

Barkley also speculates that there are unknown investors who would benefit from the foreclosure, if it ever occurred, or who would benefit from Barkley's payments, if he were making any. Barkley's arguments about a purported "unknown investor" do not matter because

U.S. Bank's role as trustee for various investors does not give those investors an interest in the Note or Deed of Trust. See Cashmere Valley Bank v. State of Wash., 181 Wn.2d 622, 636-41 (2014). This Court rejected the proposition that an investor in a securitization transaction is a beneficiary under a Washington deed of trust. "While it is true that the interest received by Cashmere from the REMICs ultimately comes from promissory notes secured by mortgages and deeds of trust, Cashmere has no interest in the underlying mortgages and deeds of trust and is not a beneficiary of those instruments." Cashmere, 181 Wn.2d at 634.

U.S. Bank is acting as a trustee for various certificate-holders, but U.S. Bank's relationship with those certificate-holders has no effect on Barkley. He is not a party to those contracts. Securitization did not and could not relieve Barkley of the obligation to repay his loan to the noteholder, U.S. Bank. *In re Veal*, 450 B.R. 897, 912 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2011). This makes sense because "securitization merely creates a separate contract, distinct from plaintiffs' debt obligations under the Note and does not change the relationship of the parties in any way." *Lamb v. MERS*, *Inc.*, 2011 WL 5827813, *6 (W.D. Wash. 2011); *see also Vasquez v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, 2015 WL 5158538, *3-4 (N.D. Cal. 2015).

B. The court of appeals' decision does not merit review because the trial court properly considered the declarations of John Simionidis and Jeff Stenman.

This Court should not grant review because the court of appeals properly applied the law when it affirmed the superior court's decision to

admit two declarations. Under CR 56(e), declarations must be made on personal knowledge, must set forth facts admissible in evidence, and must show that the declarant is competent to testify to the information contained in the declaration. Importantly, Washington courts consider the requisite of personal knowledge to be satisfied if the proponent of the evidence satisfies the business-records statute. See Discover Bank v. Bridges, 154 Wn. App. 722, 726 (2010); Am. Express Centurion Bank v. Stratman, 172 Wn. App. 667, 674-75 (2012) (rejecting challenge to bank employee declaration, holding that affiant's personal knowledge of how records are kept generally was sufficient for business-records exception).

Washington's business-records statute, RCW 5.45.020, allows a "qualified witness" to submit business records into evidence, even records that witness did not create. Courts broadly interpret the term "qualified witness" under the business-records statute. *State v. Smith*, 55 Wn.2d 482, 419-20 (1960); *State v. Ben-Neth*, 34 Wn. App. 600, 603 (1983); *State v. Quincy*, 122 Wn. App. 395, 399 (2004). Under the statute, a qualified witness need not have created the record to authenticate it. *Cantrill v. Am. Mail Line, Ltd.*, 42 Wn.2d 590, 608 (1953); *Ben-Neth*, 34 Wn. App. at 603.

Testimony by a witness who has access to the record as a regular part of his work suffices. *Quincy*, 122 Wn. App. at 399; *Ben-Neth*, 34 Wn. App. at 603. Admissibility hinges upon the opinion of the court that the sources of information, method, and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission. *Quincy*, 122 Wn. App. at 401; *Ben-Neth*, 34 Wn.

App. at 603. Computerized records are treated the same as any other business records. *Quincy*, 122 Wn. App. at 399.

The Simionidis declaration squarely meets these requirements and is indistinguishable from evidence routinely approved by Washington courts. For instance, in *Discover Bank v. Bridges*, Discover Bank relied on affidavits from employees of DFS, an affiliated entity that assisted Discover Bank in collecting delinquent debts. The affiants stated that (1) they worked for DFS, (2) two of the affiants had access to the Bridges' account records in the course of their employment, (3) the same two affiants testified based on personal knowledge and review of those records, and (4) the attached account records were true and correct copies made in the ordinary course of business. *Discover Bank*, 154 Wn. App. at 726. The court of appeals rejected the Bridges' contention that the trial court improperly admitted the affidavits into evidence. *Id*.

As in *Discover Bank*, Simionidis stated in his declaration that he has personal knowledge of Chase's business records. Simionidis states he personally reviewed those records. CP 495 ¶ 3. Furthermore, he has personal knowledge of how Chase's business records were "created or collected as part of Chase's regular practices, and were kept by Chase in the course of its regularly-conducted business activities." *Id.* While Simionidis does not state he was a custodian of the records, neither did the affiants in *Discover Bank*. The superior court correctly allowed into evidence the Simionidis declaration and its supporting documents.

Compare Walsh v. Microsoft Corp., 63 F. Supp. 3d 1312, 1318 (W.D. Wash. 2014) (discussing parallel language in federal rule and admitting declaration: "A witness does not have to be the custodian of documents offered into evidence to establish Rule 803(6)'s foundational requirements. The phrase 'other qualified witness' is broadly interpreted to require only that the witness understand the record-keeping system.").

This Court's decision in *State v. Fricks*, 91 Wn.2d 391 (1979), did not compel a different result. In that case, a record could not be admitted into evidence because the authenticating witness's testimony "was not adequate under the statute to lay such a foundation." *Id.* at 397-98. That is essentially all that *Fricks* says on the issue. By contrast, in this case, Simionidis and Stenman each explained their positions with their respective companies, explained how they acquired their personal knowledge, and explained why the documents submitted in connection with those declarations were admissible into evidence. Nor do the other authorities cited by Barkley help him. Each is just an ordinary restatement of the rule contained in RCW 5.45.020.

Importantly, the superior court did not need the Simionidis declaration to admit all the documents that Simionidis referred to in his declaration. Every one of those documents was both self-authenticating and authenticated by other testimony. *See* CP 391-92. For example, the Simionidis declaration attached a copy of the limited power of attorney, which was self-authenticating by a certificate of acknowledgement under

ER 902(b). (This power of attorney, by the way, along with the pooling and servicing agreement filed with the SEC, each satisfies Barkley's purported need for independent evidence of agency. Anyway, the cases Barkley cites do not stand for the proposition that, under modern rules of evidence, agents cannot testify to the nature and scope of their authority.) Barkley came forward with no evidence to create a genuine issue of fact about those documents.

C. The court of appeals' decision does not merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the trial court properly denied Barkley's belated request for additional discovery.

One year after filing his complaint, and three weeks after being served with Respondents' motion for summary judgment, Barkley's opposition asked the superior court to continue the motion for additional discovery. The superior court properly denied Barkley's CR 56(f) request because: (1) Barkley failed to state what evidence he would establish through additional discovery, (2) the evidence sought would not have raised a genuine issue of fact rendering delay and further discovery futile, and (3) Barkley failed to offer good reason for his delay in obtaining the evidence desired. See Molsness v. City of Walla Walla, 84 Wn. App. 393, 400 (1997). Failure to meet one of these requirements is fatal, and the timing of a motion for summary judgment is irrelevant to whether a continuance should be denied. See, e.g., Manteufel v. SAFECO Ins. Co., 117 Wn. App. 168, 175 (2003) (denying request to continue motion for summary judgment one month after filing of the complaint).

A delay for additional discovery "is not justified if the party fails to support the request with an explanation of the evidence to be obtained through additional discovery." *Molsness*, 84 Wn. App. at 400-01. "Vague, wishful thinking is not enough." *Id.* at 401 (trial court did not abuse discretion by denying continuance). Barkley needed to identify, by affidavit, specific evidence he would obtain that was necessary to oppose summary judgment. *See* CR 56(f); *Molsness*, 84 Wn. App. at 401. Barkley failed to present any such affidavit to the superior court.

Barkley failed to identify any specific evidence he might uncover through additional discovery. While Barkley claimed to require additional discovery "to flesh out the ownership of the subject Note and Deed of Trust and the agency relationships, if any, among the [Respondents], and learn the identity of the 'undisclosed investor'" (CP 567-68), Respondents showed that U.S. Bank, through its agent, had physical possession of the original Note, and was also the owner. Barkley himself saw the original Note during his deposition and recognized his signature. CP 478 at 43:4-14, 44:14-22; CP 481 at 56:21-57:1.

Barkley also did not and could not demonstrate that additional discovery could raise a genuine issue of fact. *Stranberg v. Lasz*, 115 Wn. App. 396, 406-07 (2003). The mere possibility that discoverable evidence exists that may be relevant is not sufficient. *Molsness*, 84 Wn. App. at 401. Barkley did not and could not submit any material facts because U.S. Bank was indisputably the holder and owner of the Note.

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